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DECISION
We grant the application of Mark E. Reed for reasonable attorney fees and expenses incurred in Director of Department of Public Safety v. Mark E. Reed, Case No. 07-0753 PO (“the underlying case”) and during the instant case.  We award Reed $3,180.00 in attorney fees and $375.58 in expenses.
Procedure

On August 29, 2008, Reed filed an application for attorney fees and expenses (“application”) incurred in the underlying case and in the instant case.  The Director of the Department of Public Safety (“the Director”) filed an answer.  We received a first amended application on December 19, 2008, the day of the hearing, from Reed.  Regulation 1 CSR 15-3.350(4) requires our leave to file an amended application because the Director had filed an 
answer to the original application on October 3, 2008.  Also, because the amended application was filed less than 20 days before the hearing, the cited regulation requires that the amended application be filed only with the Director's consent.  We neither granted leave, nor is there any evidence of the Director's consent.  Although the amended application was filed on the day of the hearing, neither party stated at the hearing that an amended application had been filed.  Therefore, we disregard the amended application.

On December 19, 2008, we held a hearing.  Lawrence G. Rebman represented Reed.  Assistant Attorney General Christopher R. Fehr represented the Director.  Both parties filed written arguments, the last of which was filed on March 30, 2009.

Findings of Fact

1.
David Kling is an investigator for the Director.  On August 26, 2006, Kling received by e-mail a copy of an article published originally in the Kansas City Star.  The article states that Mark E. Reed, an active duty police officer for the Kansas City Police Department (“police department”), who had pled not guilty to a misdemeanor charge of child abuse in the municipal court,
 was found guilty of that charge on August 17, 2006.  The article states that the 10-year old victim was related to Reed.  The article contains a description of the incident that the victim gave to the investigating officer.  The description stated that Reed threw the victim on the floor, rolled on him, and choked the victim with his hands.  The article states that an adult guardian reported to police that the victim had swelling and bruises on his forehead, bruises and swelling on his nose, and small lacerations on his nose and upper lip.
2.
In October 2006, Jeremy Spratt, program manager for the POST program, forwarded to Kling a letter, dated October 9, 2006, accompanied by a police report that Spratt had received from Lisa S. Morris, general counsel for the police department.  
3.
Morris’ letter indicated that Reed was an officer of the police department and had been charged with child abuse in the municipal court.  Morris stated that on October 4, 2006, Reed received a suspended imposition of sentence and was placed on probation for one year.  She enclosed a copy of the field incident report (“police report”).
4.
The police report states that the incident occurred on November 17, 2005, and that the alleged perpetrator was a “Department Member.”  The report states that the victim, a boy, was born on January 20, 1995.  The victim said that Reed became upset with him for not finishing his homework; that Reed threw him on the floor and rolled on him; and that Reed put his hands on the victim’s neck and began to choke him.  Later that day, when the victim’s mother picked him up at school, she saw swelling on his forehead, swelling and bruising on his nose, and a small laceration to his nose and to his upper lip.  She took the victim to his therapist and then to the hospital for an examination.  Reed was arrested.
5.
After finding out that the municipal court had sentenced Reed, Kling obtained municipal court records for Reed’s case.  The court records show that Reed was charged on November 18, 2005, with a violation of ordinance number 50-231, that he pled not guilty,
 that he was tried and found guilty on October 4, 2006, and that the municipal court suspended the imposition of sentence and placed Reed on probation for one year.  The records contain a copy of the summons and docket entries.
6.
Kling found a number of state statutes – from common assault to endangering the welfare of a child – that, in his opinion, would criminalize the same conduct for which Reed was found guilty.
7.
Neither Kling nor anyone else for the Director contacted Reed, the victim, or any other person to obtain information about what happened.

8.
Kling summarized the information that he had concerning Reed in a report.  Kling forwarded the report to Spratt so that he would forward it to the Director's designee, deputy director Brian Jamison, to decide whether to proceed with disciplinary action.  

9.
Kling received the case back from Jamison with the indication to file a disciplinary action against Reed.  
10.
Kling sent the case to the Attorney General’s office to file the disciplinary action.

11.
On May 16, 2007, the Attorney General filed a complaint (“underlying complaint”)
, on behalf of the Director, with this Commission seeking to discipline Reed.  The underlying complaint alleges:

5.
Section 590.080 provides the following:

1.
The director shall have cause to discipline any peace officer licensee who:

*   *   *


 (2) Has committed any criminal offense, whether or not a criminal charge has been filed; and

*   *   *

6.
On or about November 17, 2005 the Respondent abused his son by throwing his son to the floor and put his hands around his son’s throat.

7.
On or about August 17, 2006 the Respondent was found guilty of Child Abuse, Local Ordinance 50-231 in the Kansas City Municipal Court.  On October 4, 2006 the Respondent received a Suspended Imposition of Sentence.

8.
Respondent’s conduct as set forth in paragraphs 6 and 7 violates § 590.080.1(2) RSMo.
*   *   *
10.
The license of respondent should be disciplined based on his violation of § 590.080.1(2) RSMo.
12.
At the time that the Attorney General filed the complaint against Reed before this Commission, Reed’s net worth was no more than $200,000.

13.
Reed had appealed the finding of guilt and obtained a reversal on appeal.
  Afterwards, Reed pled guilty to an amended charge of peace disturbance for obstreperous conduct (“amended charge”), a violation of local ordinance § 50.167.  On April 7, 2008, the municipal court entered an “Order/Judgment” against Reed based on his plea of guilty to the amended charge.  The court suspended the imposition of sentence and placed Reed on probation for six months.

14.
At some point, Reed’s counsel notified the Assistant Attorney General representing the Director (“Director's attorney”) of the reversal of the original finding of guilt against Reed and of Reed’s guilty plea to the amended charge.
  The Director's attorney thought it was too late to amend the charge before this Commission convened the June 3, 2008, hearing in the underlying case.  He proceeded to hearing because the plea of guilty to the reduced charge was based on the same facts as originally charged as child abuse.  
15.
This Commission completed the hearing on June 3, 2008.  
16.
On July 30, 2008, this Commission issued the decision in the underlying case, accompanied by findings of fact and conclusions of law, which we incorporate into these findings as if fully set out.  Our decision was as follows:

 
Mark E. Reed is not subject to discipline because the Director of Public Safety . . . presented no evidence supporting the charge in his complaint and thus did not carry his burden of proof. 

17.
Reed employed attorney Lawrence G. Rebman to represent him in the underlying case for a flat fee of $5,000.  

18.
From September 25, 2007, through August 1, 2008, Rebman spent 33.9 hours on the underlying case.

19.
On August 25 and 26, 2008, Rebman spent eight hours on the application.

20.
On December 19, 2008, Rebman represented Reed at the hearing on the application, which took 30 minutes.

21.
Rebman’s total of hours for the underlying and fee cases is 42.4 hours.

22.
At $75 per hour, the total of 42.4 hours is worth $3,180.00.

23.
Rebman incurred expenses for copies and mileage of $375.58.

24.
Reed incurred mileage expenses for himself of $172.58.
Conclusions of Law


We have jurisdiction to hear Reed’s application.
  

I.  Evidentiary Issues

The Director offered as Exhibit B the October 9, 2006, letter from the general counsel of the police department with the attached police report of the incident between Reed and his son.  
The Director also offered as Exhibit C a copy of two pages of records from the case filed against Reed in the municipal court, which show the charge, some docket entries, and the disposition on October 4, 2006, in which the court found him guilty, suspended the imposition of sentence, and placed Reed on one year of probation.  Reed objected to both as constituting hearsay.
  We took the objections with the case.

Hearsay is:

in-court testimony of an extrajudicial statement offered to prove the truth of the matters asserted therein, resting for its value upon the credibility of the out-of-court declarant.[
]

The Director did not offer the records to prove that any assertions made in them were true.  The purpose of the offers was to support the Director's defense that he had substantial justification for his position that there was cause to discipline Reed by attempting to show what information the Director relied upon, how the facts appeared to him at the time of his decision to take disciplinary action, and the extent of his investigation of the facts – all of which are relevant in a proceeding on attorney fees and expenses.  Section 536.087.3 expressly provides that evidence in any hearing on the application “shall be limited to consideration of matters which affected the agency's decision leading to the position at issue in the fee application.”  The Court of Appeals has interpreted this provision to mean that we are to decide whether the Director's position was substantially justified:
… in light of the underlying record in the case which was decided in her favor and in light of the facts and investigation which the agency showed it considered in deciding to suspend her and in trying to uphold that suspension.[
]
Therefore, the Director did not offer the records in Exhibits B and C for any hearsay purpose.  We overrule Reed’s objections and admit Exhibits B and C.
II.  Legal Standard for Attorney Fee Applications

Section 536.087.1 states:

A party who prevails in an agency proceeding or civil action arising therefrom, brought by or against the state, shall be awarded those reasonable fees and expenses incurred by that party in the civil action or agency proceeding, unless the court or agency finds that the position of the state was substantially justified or that special circumstances make an award unjust.
A.  Agency Proceeding/Contested Case

An agency proceeding is “an adversary proceeding in a contested case pursuant to this chapter in which the state is represented by counsel[.]”
  A “contested case” is “a proceeding before an agency in which legal rights, duties or privileges of specific parties are required by law to be determined after hearing.”
  The relevant inquiry is not whether the agency actually held an “adversary proceeding in a contested case,” but whether a statute, ordinance, or constitutional provision required the agency to do so.
  


The “State” is “the state of Missouri, its officers and its agencies.”
  The Department of Public Safety is a state agency.
  The underlying case was one that the Director brought to establish cause to discipline Reed.  Sections 590.080.2 and 621.045
 require that we determine such a case after an adversary hearing.  An assistant attorney general represented the Director in the underlying case.  Therefore, the underlying case was a contested case and an agency proceeding.

B.  Prevailing Party

Section 536.085(2) defines a “party” to include:  

(a) An individual whose net worth did not exceed two million dollars at the time the civil action or agency proceeding was initiated[.]
Reed’s net worth at the time that the Director filed the underlying complaint was within the amount that allows him to be a party in a fee proceeding.  


Section 536.085(3) defines “prevails” as:

obtains a favorable order, decision, judgment, or dismissal in a civil action or agency proceeding[.] 

In the underlying complaint, the Director asked that we “find that respondent’s peace officer certification is subject to discipline.”  We decided that Reed was not subject to discipline.  Clearly, Reed prevailed.


On the issue of whether Reed “obtained” the favorable result, the Court of Appeals has defined “obtained,” as used in § 536.085(3), as:

 “Obtain,” in its simplest form, means “to get possession of ... to arrive at; to reach; to achieve....” Webster's Dictionary of the English Language, Unabridged 1236 (Encyclopedia Ed.1977).[
]
When the favorable result comes after the prevailing party has actively contested the agency’s action, the prevailing party has “obtained” the favorable decision.
  Reed hired counsel and actively contested the Director's complaint at the hearing.  Reed obtained the favorable result and qualifies as a prevailing party.
C.  Substantially Justified

A prevailing party is entitled to an award of attorney fees and expenses unless we determine that (1) the State’s position was substantially justified or (2) special circumstances 
make an award unjust.
  The Director argues no “special circumstances” that would make an award of attorney fees unjust, and we find none.  Therefore, attorney fees and expenses are to be awarded unless the State’s position was substantially justified.  Reed’s fee application contends that the Director was not substantially justified.


Section 536.087.3 provides in part:  

The fact that the state has lost the agency proceeding or civil action creates no legal presumption that its position was not substantially justified.  Whether or not the position of the state was substantially justified shall be determined on the basis of the record (including the record with respect to the action or failure to act by an agency upon which a civil action is based) which is made in the agency proceeding or civil action for which fees and other expenses are sought, and on the basis of the record of any hearing the court or agency deems appropriate to determine whether an award of reasonable fees and expenses should be made, provided that any such hearing shall be limited to consideration of matters which affected the agency’s decision leading to the position at issue in the fee application.  


The Director must present a prima facie case that he had a reasonable basis in both fact and law for his position, and that this basis was not merely marginally reasonable, but clearly reasonable, although not necessarily correct.
  The Director must bear his burden based on the facts previously found in the underlying case and the additional information shown at the attorney fee hearing as to matters that led to his decision to file a complaint against Reed.  We must take into consideration not just the facts as determined in the underlying case, but also how these facts reasonably may have appeared to the Director at the time he filed his complaint against Reed. 
 


Also relevant is the thoroughness and quality of the Director’s investigation.
  “The State has a duty to present a prima facie case explaining the investigative process and defending 
the reasonableness of the action it took.”
  The Director must “demonstrate a sufficiently thorough and sufficiently objective investigation to ensure confidence that the result of the investigation could be viewed as substantially justified.”
  We may find against the Director for his “failure to properly investigate in the manner a reasonable person would have in similar circumstances,” that is, if “the investigation was not sufficiently thorough and sufficiently objective that it could be said that the discipline was substantially justified by the facts that were known or should have been known at the time the action was taken.”
  More specifically, an agency may fail to show substantial justification if it did not make a thorough review of the documentation upon which it relied, failed to conduct thorough interviews of the witnesses, failed to interview pertinent witnesses, or failed to take into account contrary evidence readily available to it.
  


Reed first contends that the Director failed to prove what facts he relied upon to decide to file the disciplinary action and, second, that the Director failed to show that he was substantially justified in continuing to pursue disciplinary action after learning that the municipal court’s finding of guilt for child abuse had been reversed and a plea of guilty had been entered to an amended and less serious charge. 
1.  Filing of Disciplinary Action

Reed contends that the Director never proved what facts or documents that the decision-maker, the Director's deputy director Jamison, in this case, had before him when he decided to file the disciplinary action.  The sole evidence that the Director provided was the testimony of the investigator, Kling, who identified the three documents he relied upon (the news article, the 
letter from the police department's general counsel with the police report, and two pages of municipal court records) and on some state statutes that he found that criminalized common assault and endangering the welfare of a child.  Kling testified that he summarized the information contained in those documents in a report that he sent to the Director's designee:  

Q
Once you make that determination, who do you send the file on to?

A
I basically draft a condensed report of my findings, forwarded that through channels through Mr. Spratt all the way up to the Director or his designee which in this case happened to be Brian Jamison who at that time was the deputy director.  

Q
What was his decision in that case?

A
To proceed with disciplinary action.

Q
That's based on everything you've already told us?

A
Yes.

Q
And then what did he do once he made that decision?  

A
After he signs off on it, he forwards the case back to me and I forward it to your office.[
]

The key document as to what Jamison knew, Kling’s “condensed report,” is not in evidence.  Nor is there any testimony that Kling forwarded the documents he relied upon to Jamison with the report.  As a result, assuming that Jamison received what Kling forwarded to him, we do not know what Jamison considered or relied upon.  Therefore, regardless of whether Kling made a thorough investigation or not, the Director has failed to make a prima facie case that his designee had a reasonable basis in both fact and law for his position.  The Director's defense of substantial justification fails.
2.  The Director's Position at the Hearing


Even if the Director had shown substantial justification for filing the disciplinary action, Reed contends that the Director must also show substantial justification for continuing with the disciplinary action at the hearing, because the reversal of the finding of guilt on the child abuse charge and the plea of guilty to the amended charge presented an entirely different situation than what may have justified the underlying complaint.  Reed contends that the Director was without justification to proceed to hearing on a complaint that stated as its basis the now-reversed finding of guilty, at least without amending the complaint to give him notice of the Director's new basis for seeking disciplinary action.


The Director counters that the law provides that he only has to justify his position at the time of filing the initial complaint, relying on the following language in § 536.087.3:

Whether or not the position of the state was substantially justified shall be determined on the basis of the record (including the record with respect to the action or failure to act by an agency upon which a civil action is based) which is made in the agency proceeding or civil action for which fees and other expenses are sought, and on the basis of the record of any hearing the court or agency deems appropriate to determine whether an award of reasonable fees and expenses should be made, provided that any such hearing shall be limited to consideration of matters which affected the agency's decision leading to the position at issue in the fee application.
(Emphasis added.) 

Ironically, the statute supports Reed because Reed specifically included as a “position at issue in the fee application” that the Director “failed to provide sufficient evidence to establish either the charge the Director made in the complaint or in the charge he made at the hearing.”
  That the Director understood this is evident in the Director's response to the application, which 
was to emphasize that “the question is whether the Director's position was substantially justified at the time he made his decision to file.  14 S.W.3d at 717.  Clearly it was.”

The case cited, Dishman v. Joseph, does not support the Director's position.  That case did not involve any change in the events originally relied upon for the disciplinary action, as occurred in Reed’s case.  That case resolved a split in case authority over whether the fee applicant had the burden of proving that the agency was in bad faith—an issue not present here.

The parties have cited no Missouri appellate decision addressing this issue.  We interpret “position of the state” in § 536.087.1 and “the position at issue in the fee application” in subsection 3, liberally consistent with the remedial purposes of the legislation.  
The Missouri statutes in question are patterned after the Federal Equal Access to Justice Act (“EAJA”), 28 U.S.C. § 2412 (1982). The purpose of this law is to require agencies to carefully scrutinize agency and court proceedings and to increase accountability of the administrative agencies. . . .  The law is designed to encourage relatively impecunious private parties to challenge abusive or unreasonable government behavior by relieving such parties of the fear of incurring large litigation expenses. . . .[
]


“Abusive or unreasonable government behavior” can occur not just by an agency initiating actions without substantial justification, but also by continuing the action when the facts supporting the original action change in a fashion that destroys the original rationale.  A citizen litigant can be just as damaged by an agency continuing with what, in the midst of litigation, has become a position lacking in substantial justification as the citizen can be damaged by an action unjustified from the beginning.  

Also, the principle followed by the United States Supreme Court in regard to the EAJA is that it is the agency’s position in the proceeding taken as “an inclusive whole” that must be 
substantially justified.
  Although we found no federal case that addressed the situation we have here, one court used the Supreme Court’s principle to resolve a dispute over whether attorney fees should be allowed when an agency had no substantial justification for some of the documents demanded in a subpoena but did have justification for other documents.  The Court of Appeals held in favor of the agency, but described in dicta a situation closely analogous to the instant case:
Without deciding the extent of the Customs Service's summons power under § 1509, we find that the district court did not abuse its discretion in determining that the government was substantially justified in its position.  As the Supreme Court has noted, “the EAJA ... favors treating a case as an inclusive whole, rather than as atomized line-items”.  Commissioner, Immigration and Naturalization Service v. Jean, 496 U.S. 154, 161-62, 110 S.Ct. 2316, 2320, 110 L.Ed2d 134 (1990).  There may well be situations in which the government is justified initially but its subsequent unjustified actions merit an award of attorney's fees for the unjustified portion of the conduct.  For example, the government might have suspicion to justify investigating an importer; the investigation might reveal that the government's suspicions were wrong, yet the government might nonetheless persist in bringing suit for allegedly owing duty.  This appeal, however, does not present such a situation, and the district court did not abuse its discretion either in treating the case as a whole or in determining that the position of the government was, as a whole, substantially justified.[
]
We consider this dicta instructive only, but it does support our interpretation of §536.087 to require the agency to show substantial justification for continuing with an action after the original facts relied on change significantly.  
Therefore, even if we had found that the Director's action was substantially justified when he decided to file the underlying complaint, we conclude that Reed may be granted 
attorney fees pursuant to § 536.087 if the Director's position at the hearing was not substantially justified.
When the Director filed the underlying complaint, his position was that there was cause to discipline pursuant to § 590.080.1(2)
 because “[o]n or about November 17, 2005, the Respondent abused his son by throwing his son to the floor and put his hands around his son’s throat”; that Reed was found guilty of child abuse pursuant to local ordinance 50-231 in the Kansas City Municipal Court; and that on October 4, 2006, he received a suspended imposition of sentence.  This remained his position at the hearing even after the Director's attorney had learned that the finding of guilt was reversed and that Reed had pled guilty to an ordinance prohibiting peace disturbance.  The Director’s attorney stated at the underlying hearing that upon learning of this change, he was “outside the time to amend our complaint.”
  The record does not show when the Director's attorney learned of the reversal and guilty plea to an amended charge.  If it was 20 or more days before the scheduled hearing, he could have asked for leave to file an amended complaint; if less than 20 days, he would have needed Reed’s consent to amend.
  Because it may not have been likely that Reed would have consented, the Director still had the option of dismissing the complaint without prejudice, without the need of any action by this Commission, and re-filing later if the Director determined that the change in facts still justified disciplinary action.
  Therefore, the Director cannot justify his decision to maintain the 
same position at the hearing as if he had no other choice because the Director had other options that he chose not to use.  
As our conclusions of law in the underlying case show, the change in Reed’s legal situation left the Director without any reasonable basis in law or fact to prove the underlying complaint’s allegations.  The three documents that Kling had relied upon--the news article, the police report, and the municipal court’s finding of guilt on the original charge--were all useless as evidence because they were hearsay.  The Director did introduce court records showing that Reed had pled guilty to the reduced charge under the theory that the reduced charge “[c]omes out of the exact same set of facts.”
  While a guilty plea can be used to prove facts as any other admission from a party opponent, it was, as we pointed out in the underlying conclusions of law, useless because the elements of the ordinance to which he pled guilty were not in evidence.  Further, a guilty plea without imposition of sentence is not a final judgment and cannot estop the defendant from denying commission of the offense in a subsequent civil proceeding.
  As a result, the lack of any other investigation, such as interviews with the victim, the mother, and Reed, left the Director without any other facts on which to base a decision that the allegations in the underlying complaint were true and without any evidence to use at a hearing to support those allegations.  The Director has presented us with nothing in the record of the underlying case or in the evidence at the fee hearing to show substantial justification for proceeding to hearing on the allegations in the underlying complaint after the reversal of the finding of child abuse and the guilty plea to the amended charge.  Therefore, even if the Director was substantially justified in filing the underlying complaint, his position of proceeding to hearing on that complaint was not substantially justified.
We deny the Director's defense that he was substantially justified in his position when filing the underlying complaint, or in the alternative, when continuing to proceed at the underlying hearing.  Accordingly, Reed is a prevailing party in an agency proceeding who shall be awarded reasonable fees and expenses as provided in §§ 536.085 and 536.087.
II.  Attorney Fees

Section 536.087.1 requires that Reed “shall be awarded those reasonable fees and expenses incurred by that party in the . . . agency proceeding[.]”

Section 536.085(4) provides:
(4) “Reasonable fees and expenses” includes the reasonable expenses of expert witnesses, the reasonable cost of any study, analysis, engineering report, test, or project which is found by the court or agency to be necessary for the preparation of the party's case, and reasonable attorney or agent fees. The amount of fees awarded as reasonable fees and expenses shall be based upon prevailing market rates for the kind and quality of the services furnished, except that no expert witness shall be compensated at a rate in excess of the highest rate of compensation for expert witnesses paid by the state in the type of civil action or agency proceeding, and attorney fees shall not be awarded in excess of seventy-five dollars per hour unless the court determines that a special factor, such as the limited availability of qualified attorneys for the proceedings involved, justifies a higher fee[.]
In his application, Reed requests an award of $3,142.50 for attorney fees, which represents 41.9 hours at $75.00 per hour.  He also requests other fees incurred subsequent to filing his application, but we have no evidence of such, except the time he spent at the thirty-minute fee hearing, which we have added to the hours shown on Rebman’s log.
In his written arguments, Reed requests that we calculate the fee award at the rate of $200 per hour because that is the prevailing rate for attorneys where he practices in Kansas City.  Reed 
expressly disavows any reliance on a “special factor.”  Instead, Reed relies upon the following language in § 536.085(4),
 which provides:

The amount of fees awarded as reasonable fees and expenses shall be based upon prevailing market rates for the kind and quality of the services furnished, . . . attorney fees shall not be awarded in excess of seventy-five dollars per hour unless the court determines that a special factor, such as the limited availability of qualified attorneys for the proceedings involved, justifies a higher fee[.]
This language fails to support Reed’s position because the “prevailing market rates” language applies only up to the express limit of $75.00.  We realize that prevailing market rates for attorneys are higher than that, probably throughout the state.  But we have no authority to change the General Assembly’s express limitation on the hourly rate for attorneys.

Also, we reject the request for Reed’s own mileage expenses.  We find nothing in 
§ 536.085(4) that allows reimbursement for the applicant’s personal expenses.  We award Reed $3,180.00 in attorney fees and $375.58 in expenses.
Summary

Reed is a prevailing party in an agency proceeding, as those terms are used in § 536.085 and defined in § 536.087.

The Director failed to prove that he was substantially justified in filing the underlying complaint because there is no evidence as to what facts and law his deputy director relied upon.  In the alternative, even if the Director had substantial justification to file the underlying complaint, he showed no facts or law that provided substantial justification for continuing to proceed at the hearing to prove the allegations in the underlying complaint after Reed obtained a 
reversal of the finding that he was guilty of child abuse and had pled guilty to an amended charge of peace disturbance.

Therefore, we award reasonable attorney fees and expenses to Reed.

SO ORDERED on April 14, 2010.


________________________________



NIMROD T. CHAPEL, JR.       


Commissioner

	�We refer to the Kansas City Municipal Division of the Sixteenth Judicial Circuit as the “municipal court.”


	�The first page of the court record is confusing in that it shows “Plea Guilty” and also “Tried on 10/04/06.”  However, the second page contains docket entries that shows the “Not Guilty” box checked after “Plea.”  Ex. C.  Kling agreed that Reed pled not guilty.  


	�We designate matters relating to the disciplinary action, Case No. 07-0753 PO, as “underlying ___.”  We designate matters relating to the application case as “fee ___.”


	�The record does not reveal when Reed obtained the reversal.


	�Other than the Director's attorney’s statement at the underlying hearing that he was notified of the reversal and guilty plea to the reduced charge too late to amend the underlying complaint, the record contains no more specific designation of when notification occurred.  Underlying Tr. at 10.  The Director's attorney offered a copy of the “Order/Judgment” from the municipal court showing the guilty plea to the reduced charge as Exhibit 3 at the underlying hearing.  Underlying Tr. at 10.


	�We determine the hours expended from the log of hours attached to the application.  The first amended application that Rebman filed, which we disregard for reasons stated earlier, contained a log that showed an additional four hours of time spent on the application.  We do not make this part of our findings because it is not made part of the record.  However, we did observe Rebman representing Reed at the hearing, which took 30 minutes.  Thus, we have included that time in the time for which we award attorney fees.


	�Section 536.087.  


	�Reed did not object to the lack of certification of the court records.


	� State v. Davison, 920 S.W.2d 607, 609 (Mo. App., W.D. 1996) (quoting State v. Harris, 620 S.W.2d 349, 355 (Mo. banc 1981)).


	�Dishman v. Joseph, 14 S.W.3d 709, 718 (Mo. App., W.D. 2000) (emphasis added); see also Joseph v. Dishman, 81 S.W.3d 147, 151-52 (Mo. App., W.D. 2002).


	�Section 536.085(1).


	�Section 536.010(4), RSMo Supp. 2009.


	�Lipic v. State, 93 S.W.3d 839, 841 (Mo. App., E.D. 2002).


	�Section 536.085(5).


	�Art. IV, § 12, Mo. Const. (as amended 1970).


	�RSMo Supp. 2009.


	�Melahn v. Otto, 836 S.W.2d 525, 529 (Mo. App., W.D. 1992).


	�Id.  


	�Section 536.087.1.


	�Dishman, 14 S.W.3d at 716, 718-19; Joseph, 81 S.W.3d at 153.


	� Dishman, 14 S.W.3d at 716, 718-19


	�Dishman, 14 S.W.3d at 718-19; Joseph, 81 S.W.3d at 151-52.


	�Pulliam v. State, 96 S.W.3d 904, 907 (Mo. App., W.D. 2003), citing Joseph, 81 S.W.3d at 151. 


	�Joseph, 81 S.W.3d at 153.


	�Id.


	�Id. at 151-53.


	�Fee Tr. at 19.


	�Fee application at 5.


	�White v. Missouri Veterinary Medical Bd., 906 S.W.2d 753, 755 (Mo. App., W.D. 1995), cited with approval in Greenbriar Hills Country Club v. Director of Revenue, 47 S.W.3d 346, 358, n. 41 (Mo. banc 2001).


	�Commissioner, I.N.S. v. Jean, 110 S.Ct. 2316, 2320 (1990).


	�U.S. v. Rubin, 97 F.3d 373, 375-76 (9th Cir. 1996).


	�RSMo Supp. 2008.  


	�Underlying Tr. at 10.


	�1 CSR 15-3.350(4).


	�1 CSR 15-3.440(2) (rescinded January 1, 2009), provided:


(A) A notice of dismissal dismisses the complaint, and is effective as of the date on which petitioner files it, without any action by the commission.


(B) Petitioner may dismiss the complaint without prejudice: 


	1. Before the filing of a motion for decision without hearing under section (3) of this rule or the introduction of evidence at the hearing, whichever is earlier, without the commission’s leave.


Neither party had filed a motion for decision without hearing in the underlying case.


	�Underlying Tr. at 10.


	�Carr v. Holt, 134 S.W.3d 647 (Mo. App., E.D. 2004); Yale v. City of Independence, 846 S.W.2d 193, 194 (Mo. banc 1993).


	�Brief, at 5 and reply brief, at 2.  Reed mistakenly cites the statute as § 536.010.8.  That statute contains the definitions for Chapter 536 and does not contain a subsection 8.  The quoted portion of the statute in the briefs is from § 536.085(4).





PAGE  
2

